Yale University EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library

School of Medicine

2000

The effects of chronic hypoxia on the developing rat brain

Carl John Seashore Yale University

Follow this and additional works at: http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl

Recommended Citation

Seashore, Carl John, "The effects of chronic hypoxia on the developing rat brain" (2000). *Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library*. 3148. http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ymtdl/3148

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Medicine at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Yale Medicine Thesis Digital Library by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.





The Effects of Chronic Hypoxia on the Developing Rat Grate

Carl John Seashoro

YALE UNIVERSITY

2000



Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2017 with funding from The National Endowment for the Humanities and the Arcadia Fund

https://archive.org/details/effectsofchronic00seas

The Effects of Chronic Hypoxia on the Developing Rat Brain

A Thesis Submitted to the Yale University School of Medicine in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Medicine

by

Carl John Seashore

2000

YALE MEDIGAL LIBRARY AUG 01 2000

MARALIA TH3 + 112 6793

THE EFFECTS OF CHRONIC HYPOXIA ON THE DEVELOPING RAT BRAIN.

Carl J. Seashore and William B. Stewart. Section of Anatomy, Department of Surgery, Yale University, School of Medicine, New Haven, CT.

The developing brain in premature infants is vulnerable to hypoxic injury. Clinical studies have correlated chronic postnatal hypoxia in very low birth weight infants with the development of neurological handicap later in life. Animal studies investigating this phenomenon have found that hypoxia induces angiogenesis in the developing brain but have not established a cause and effect mechanism for hypoxic injury. Since new vessels may have different permeability properties than mature vessels, we hypothesized that chronic hypoxia causes changes in properties of the blood brain barrier.

Rat pups were raised, beginning on postnatal day three (PND 3), in a chamber with an F_iO_2 of 9.5±1% for a period of 10 or 30 days (H10, H30). A subgroup of H30 rat pups was returned to normoxia for an additional 30 days prior to sacrifice (H30/N30). The brains of these animals were evaluated using immunohistochemical markers and electron microscopy. A separate subset of the H30 animals was injected with horseradish peroxidase (HRP), which circulated for five minutes prior to sacrifice. The brains of the HRP perfused animals were examined for leakage of HRP across the blood brain barrier.

We found a pronounced increase in vascular permeability in both H10 and H30 animals compared to controls. Additionally, a dramatic increase in the size of the lateral ventricles and associated decreases in cross sectional area of the corpus callosum and cortical volume were noted in H30/N30 animals. These findings suggest that chronic hypoxia increases blood brain barrier permeability as well as ventricular volume in the developing rat brain.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project would not have been possible without the continuous help and support of several people.

William B. Stewart, PhD, for guidance and support for the duration of this project.Laura R. Ment, MD, for supporting my research and fostering my interest in pediatrics.Michael Schwartz, PhD, for compiling additional ventricular volume data.Edward Novotny, MD, for generously housing our hypoxia chamber in his lab.The Department of Surgery for generously supporting my time in lab.

ABBREVIATIONS USED

BBB	blood brain barrier
BPD	bronchopulmonary dysplasia
DAB	diaminobenzidine
F_iO_2	fraction of inspired oxygen
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
H10	10 days in hypoxia
H30	30 days in hypoxia
H30/N30	30 days in hypoxia followed by 30 days in normoxia
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
IVH	intraventricular hemorrhage
N10	10 day control animals
N30	30 day control animals
N60	60 day control animals
PND	postnatal day
SD	standard deviation
TMB	tetramethyl benzizdine
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VM	ventriculomegaly

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Abbreviations used	iii
Introduction	
Hypoxia and the premature infant	1
Chronic hypoxia in prematurity	1
A rat model for chronic sublethal hypoxia	1
Blood brain barrier development in the newborn rat	2
<i>Role of VEGF in angiogenesis in the developing brain</i>	3
Statement of purpose and hypothesis	5
Methods	6
Hypoxia model	6
Immunohistochemical studies	6
HRP permeability studies	
Ventriculomegaly	8
Statistics	8
Results	9
Immunohistochemistry	9
Figure 1	9
Figure 2	9
Figure 3	10
Chronic hypoxia increases vascular permeability	11
Figure 4	11
<i>Clironic hypoxia produces ventriculomegaly</i>	12
Figure 5	12
Figure 6	
Discussion	14
<i>Clinical relevance</i>	14
Clinical relevance	
Animal model for chronic hypoxia	
<i>Animal model for chronic hypoxia</i> VEGF and blood brain barrier permeability	14
Animal model for chronic hypoxia VEGF and blood brain barrier permeability Ventriculomegaly in response to chronic hypoxia	14 15

Reference	s 1	7

INTRODUCTION

Hypoxia and the premature infant

Prematurity carries with it many risks to the newborn infant. Recent data show that preterm infants weighing less than 1250 grams at birth constitute just over 1% of live births [1]. While improvements in perinatal care have led to a survival rate among these infants of greater than 85%, the incidence of neurodevelopmental handicap remains between 15% and 36%, the same level it was a decade ago [2,3]. Although many premature infants experience episodes of hypoxia, little is known about the mechanisms that may be involved in the pathogenesis of subsequent injury.

Chronic hypoxia in prematurity

The effects of chronic hypoxia that many premature infants experience in their early newborn life may be secondary to immaturity of their lungs and development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). In fact, BPD is defined by the presence of characteristic radiographic findings in association with a requirement for supplemental oxygen at 28 days of life [4,5]. In a study of 27 premature infants, Luchi et al found no correlation between duration of mechanical ventilation and cognitive outcome at three years of age [6]. However, several other investigators demonstrate findings correlating increased duration of ventilation with development of neurological handicap [7,8]. Although much data exist regarding the clinical outcomes following illness, less in known about the pathogenesis of injury in the setting of chronic hypoxia.

A rat model for chronic sublethal hypoxia

The newborn rat brain has been a good model for examination of the brain of infants born at the end of the second trimester; newborn rats are at a similar stage of

development as 25-week-old infants. While corticogenesis has completed, there is still active branching of dendrites and growth of axons. Synapses are being formed at a rapid pace, and programmed cell death of neurons is abundant [9]. In chronically hypoxic animals it is known that the number of neurons is increased while that at the same time the volume of the cortex decreased [10]. It is also known that rats raised in chronic hypoxia have a marked increase in cortical blood vessels [11]. The dendritic branching in the brains of these animals is also decreased [12]. The studies reported here are at the same stages of development of the rat brain.

Additionally, it has been shown by Ment et al that chronic hypoxia causes several characteristic changes in the developing rat: the brains are significantly smaller when compared to controls, as are the overall body weights; the hearts and spleens, however, are significantly larger in the hypoxic animals in response to the low oxygen concentrations and the increased workload demanded of those organs [12]. Similarly, LaManna et al demonstrated a 48% increase in hematocrit following three weeks of hypobaric (0.5 atm) hypoxia [13].

Blood brain barrier development in the newborn rat

Morphologically, endothelial cells of the brain are continuous, non-fenestrated capillaries, and as a result form an impermeable barrier between the vascular and parenchymal spaces in the brain: the blood brain barrier (BBB). This barrier has three main functions: (1) protection of the brain from substances that are abundant in the vascular space, such as the neurotransmitters glutamate and glycine, which would be toxic to neurons at the levels present in blood, (2) selective transport via specialized transport of substances such a glucose, and (3) metabolism of blood- or brain-borne

substances [14]. In addition, the BBB endothelial tight junctions exhibit a very high electrical resistance unique to these cells [15].

Newborn rats do not develop a mature blood brain barrier before 15 days of life [15]. Endothelial cells continue to proliferate and mature after this period, but existing differentiated endothelial cells form vessels that prohibit leakage of the vascular contents into the brain parenchyma. Hypoxia has been shown to have many effects on the blood brain barrier. Muramatsu et al demonstrated an increased vulnerability to hypoxic injury in P7 rats, and correlated this finding with the permeability of the BBB that exists at that age [16]. Zhang et al report morphological changes in the endothelial cells of the rat blood brain barrier following neonatal hypoxia that do not resolve following a period of recovery [17]. There have also been in vitro studies of BBB function, utilizing an endothelial cell/astrocyte co-culture model, which have demonstrated similar increases in permeability in response to hypoxia [18]. A monoclonal antibody specific to a blood brain barrier protein (SMI-71) has been described [19], but it has not yet been used to study the BBB in hypoxia.

Role of VEGF in angiogenesis in the developing brain

The developing brain is vulnerable to hypoxic injury, as neurons and blood vessels are developing and remodeling at a high rate. The supporting cells of the nervous system, glia, are actively creating the framework for deposition of endothelial cells which will together become the blood brain barrier. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) has been shown to stimulate growth and differentiation of endothelial cells in developing brain [20], as well as in glial tumors [21]. VEGF is an essential growth factor that is active in early angiogenesis, and is necessary for the development of a viable vascular system; knockout mice lacking a single copy of its gene die *in utero* [22]. Weindel et al

showed that VEGF operates as a paracrine growth factor that is active in both normal and tumor angiogenesis [23]. Further data suggest that VEGF is up regulated in response hypoxia [21], and that this increase in VEGF mediates an increase in angiogenesis [11]. These results all suggest that VEGF is up regulated in hypoxia, and that this up regulation leads to an increase in angiogenesis. In addition to this increase in angiogenesis there is also an increase in vascular permeability secondary to the permeability inducing properties of the VEGF protein [24]. VEGF is elevated in malignant brain tumors, and these tumors are usually associated with surrounding edema secondary to the increase in permeability VEGF causes [23]. This permeability has been reported by Connelly to be 1000-fold greater than that of histamine [25]. It is not known, however, by what mechanism VEGF induces an increase in blood brain barrier permeability.

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

The purpose of these experiments was to further characterize the nature of hypoxic injury to the developing brain, specifically the mechanisms leading to an increase in blood brain barrier permeability. Furthermore, we sought to describe the occurrence of ventricular enlargement in response to chronic sublethal hypoxia.

HYPOTHESIS

I hypothesized that chronic sublethal hypoxia leads to changes in the permeability properties of the blood brain barrier in the developing brain.

METHODS

All of the following studies were performed at the Yale University School of Medicine. The protocols and procedures were reviewed and approved by the Yale University Animal Care and Use Committee. All experiments and data analysis described were performed by the first author unless otherwise indicated.

Hypoxia model

A model of chronic hypoxia was developed in which Sprague-Dawley rats were placed in a Plexiglas chamber on day three of life (Stewart and Ment). Newborn rat pups were placed into the hypoxia chamber with their mothers on the third day of life. The oxygen content of this chamber was maintained at 9.5 +/- 1% using bottled nitrogen gas in combination with a pump that circulated room air through the chamber. The humidity of the chamber was also controlled by means of a circulating filter and desiccants. The oxygen concentration was monitored constantly by a laboratory computer connected to two separate oxygen sensors (Cameron Instrument Co.). Rats were exposed to hypoxia for a period of either 10 or 30 days (H10 or H30); a subgroup of the H30 rats were raised an additional 30 days in normoxic conditions following the initial 30 day hypoxic period (H30/N30). Animals were exposed to room air two times per week for a period of less than ten minutes for cleaning and changing of food and cages.

Immunohistochemical studies

In each of the three groups the experimental and control animals were anesthetized with pentobarbital and perfused using 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffer. The brains were removed and dehydrated in 0.1M phosphate buffer with 20% sucrose. Serial coronal sections of 60 µm were cut using a freezing microtome and

stored in order in a cryoprotectant solution (30% sucrose, 30% ethylene glycol, and 2% polyvinylpyrrolidone in 0.1M phosphate buffer) at -20°C. Serial sectioning allowed characterization of both anatomical features and three-dimensional characteristics of these brains. Tissue was stained with cresyl violet and with immunohistochemical markers specific for vascular endothelial cells, glia, and blood brain barrier proteins, as described below. Every ninth section was mounted for each study, with a minimum of 24 sections per animal.

Immunohistochemical studies were performed using antibodies to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), and smi-71 (Sternberger Monoclonals, Inc. #71) - a marker of blood brain barrier maturity. In each case, tissue sections were removed from cryoprotectant, rinsed in phosphate buffer, blocked, and incubated in primary antibody for a period of 48 hours. Secondary antibody labeling was performed with either standard HRP conjugated antibody reacted with diaminobenzidine (DAB) [VEGF, SMI-71], or tetra-methylrhodamine (TRITC), or flourescene (FITC) conjugated secondary antibody [GFAP and VEGF co-localization studies] viewed under the appropriate immunoflourescence filter. A minimum of seven animals (hypoxic and control) were studied with each antibody.

HRP permeability studies

A subgroup of H30 and H30/N30 rats was given intra-cardiac injections of 40 mg horseradish peroxidase (Sigma, type IV) dissolved in phosphate buffer that was allowed to circulate for five minutes prior to sacrifice and perfusion with 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffer. These brains (N=7 control, N=6 experimental) were subsequently sectioned in the coronal plane at 60 μ m using a freezing microtome and stored in cryoprotectant solution at –20°C. HRP perfused sections were incubated with

tetramethylbenzidine and reacted in the standard fashion to visualize extravasation of HRP across the blood brain barrier. Of approximately 200 tissue sections per animal, at least 24 (every ninth section) were studied per animal. The entire cortex in each section was sampled for leakage of HRP.

Ventriculomegaly

It was observed during staining of the brain sections that the cross sectional area of the lateral ventricles appeared larger in the hypoxic animals. Subsequently, every ninth section was analyzed using a projection grid for cross sectional area, and these results were tabulated in order to estimate the volume of the ventricles in the hypoxic versus the control animals. A more detailed stereological analysis of sagittal sections was subsequently performed using celluloidin embedded serial 50 µm sections (sagittal sectioning performed in the laboratory of Michael Schwartz). Following analysis of ventricular volume, the cross sectional area of the corpus callosum and the volume of subcortical white matter were also measured using standard stereology methods (analysis performed by William B. Stewart).

Statistics

All statistics were performed using Statview software. All statistical findings are presented as mean \pm SD unless otherwise indicated. Statistical significance was assumed for p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Immunohistochemistry

Coronal sections from hypoxic and control brain from each of the three age groups were stained with antibodies directed against both GFAP and VEGF. Figure 1 shows co-localization of both markers within glia from a representative tissue section. Staining was most prominent in glial cells surrounding the large blood vessels.



Figure 1. Co-localization of GFAP and VEGF in a representative section of rat brain. 400x original magnification. Panel A is FITC conjugated VEGF; panel B, TRITC conjugated GFAP.

Tissue sections from H30 and N30 animals stained with VEGF are shown in

figure 2. Note an increase in neuron density in the hypoxic versus the control animal,

with VEGF labeling neuron cell bodies [11].



Figure 2. Tissue sections from representative H30 and N30 animals stained with primary monoclonal antibody directed towards VEGF (HRP conjugated secondary antibody). Panel A is an H30 animal; panel B, an N30 control. 40x mag.

Figure 3 shows tissue from H10, H30, and N10 N30 animals stained with SMI-71 (Sternberger Monoclonals Inc.) in an attempt to characterize deficiencies in proteins specific to mature blood brain barrier. No difference in the presence of staining was detected between the experimental and control groups. However, between 10 (panels A and B) and 30 (panels C and D) days there was a large increase in SMI-71 staining. This increase is consistent with previously cited data concerning the changes in the quantity of mature vessels in the cortex during this time period. By 30 days all of the cortical vessels appeared to be labeled throughout. Also note the increased vascular density between hypoxic and control animals, most prominent in the 30 day animals (panels C and D).



Figure 3. Tissue sections from representative H30 and N30 animals stained with monoclonal antibody directed towards SMI-71 (HRP conjugated secondary). Panel A is an H10 animal; panel B, an N10 control. Panel C is an H30 animal; panel D, an N30 control. 30x magnification.

Chronic hypoxia increases vascular permeability

Tissue sections from HRP perfused animals were examined for leakage of HRP across the BBB. Dark field examination of representative sections from 10 and 30 day hypoxic and control animals are shown in figure 4. At PND 10 there is leakage in the control animal (panel A); this is consistent with published data regarding BBB maturity at this age; note the intense leakage in the hypoxic animal at PND 10 (panel B). At PND 33 there is an absence of HRP leakage in the control animal (panel C) while the hypoxic animals shows extensive leakage (panel D).



Figure 4. Dark field images from representative sections of cortex. A: N10 (control) animal shows some perivascular staining. B: H10 animal with markedly increased vasculature as well as increased perivascular staining. C: N30 (control) animal with no appreciable perivascular or parenchymal staining. D: H30 animal with increased vasculature and marked perivascular staining. 30x magnification.

The images in figure 4 also illustrate the increase in vascular density in the hypoxic animals. The vascular density is increased by PND 13 (H10, N10 animals) and it continues to be increased at PND 33.

Chronic hypoxia produces ventriculomegaly

Lateral ventricles were examined using matched coronal sections through the head of the caudate of H30/N30 and N60 animals; these were found to be larger in cross section when compared to controls (figure 5).



Figure 5. Cross sectional NissI-stained images of the lateral ventricles in the coronal plane. Panel A is an H30/N30 animal; panel B, an N60 control. Note the marked increase in cross sectional ventricular area of the hypoxic P63 animal (H30/N30) compared to the control P63 animal 10x magnification.

Preliminary volume estimations computed using the cross sectional area of serial sections (every 9th) were analyzed and it was found that H30 N30 animals had significantly greater ventricular volumes compared to N60 controls (H30 N30 ventricular volume = 5.44 ± 1.49 mm³; N60 ventricular volume = 3.00 ± 1.80 mm³ p<0.05). Cortical volumes, subcortical white matter volumes, and corpus callosum areas were all examined using sagittal sections, and were found to be significantly decreased in all age groups studied (figure 6). Ventriculomegaly was not statistically significant until PND 63 (figure 6).



Figure 6. Measurements of lateral ventricular volume, cortical volume, corpus callosum area, and subcortical white matter volume. Hypoxic animals are represented by shaded colums. Control animals are represented by white colums. Statistical significance is noted by the asterix where appropriate.

DISCUSSION

Clinical relevance

Hypoxia has been implicated in many problems that premature infants face. The effects of acute hypoxia have been extensively studied in infants and animals [2,26-33]. Chronic hypoxia is less well studied; many of these tiny babies suffer from bronchopulmonary dysplasia, a condition defined by a long-term need for oxygen supplementation [4,5], and these babies have been shown to have an increase in the incidence of neurodevelopmental handicaps later in life [2,29]. Our studies attempt to mimic this chronic hypoxia in an attempt to characterize the pathogenesis of these neurodevelopmental handicaps.

Animal model for chronic hypoxia

In the early stages of postnatal development the rat brain has been shown to been very sensitive to hypoxic insult. In postnatal rats, extensive differentiation of dendrites and axons occurs during the first 20 days of development, a time that coincides with 25 weeks in a preterm human infant [34]. Our experimental model sought to replicate the chronic state of hypoxia experienced by premature infants with BPD.

VEGF and blood brain barrier permeability

Blood brain barrier permeability is increased in our H10 and H30 animals. Since VEGF is known to be up regulated in hypoxia [20], it would be expected that permeability of existing vessels would increase. Additionally, these animals experience a surge of VEGF-mediated angiogenesis in response to hypoxia, increasing the number of vessels in the brain [11]. The leakage of a large molecule such as HRP across the blood

brain barrier of hypoxic rats is suggestive that leakage of similar large molecules could also occur, some of which may cause damage to the developing brain (Figure 4).

Our findings are consistent with those of Risau [13], in that the BBB is not fully mature at PND 10, as indicated by some leakage in control animals, but that it has developed by PND 30. Since blood vessels are rapidly growing during this stage of development, one could hypothesize that the elevated levels of VEGF driving this growth may also play a role in the permeability of the BBB in normoxic animals at this age. As synaptogenesis continues it may be the case that proteins leaking across the blood brain barrier damage developing neurons; when the BBB continues to leak past the first 15 days of development [13], as is the case in chronic hypoxia, this damage may become more severe or perhaps irreparable. We were unable, however, to show a molecular defect in the blood brain barrier in any age group using SMI-71 (figure 3), a specific immunohistochemical marker for mature BBB [19].

Ventriculomegaly in response to chronic hypoxia

As damage occurs to the developing brain the size of the cortical neurons decreases [9]. We found an increase in the volume of the lateral ventricles in H30/N30 animals. These animals have enjoyed a period of recovery from chronic hypoxia, and their body growth has indeed exhibited catch-up growth [34]. The brains remain small, however, and the size of the cortical neurons is decreased. It is possible that the ventricles of these animals simply grow to fill the space created by an absence of cortical volume. This also would correlate with the findings in children with BPD and ventriculomegaly, in that the hydrocephalus is low pressure, is consistent with periventricular leukomalacia, and is merely a symptom of the cortical injuries caused by chronic hypoxia [34].

Conclusions

Several conclusions can be made based upon these results. Although no specific deficits in the blood brain barrier, with respect to immunohistochemical findings, were found, the increase in permeability in response to chronic hypoxia was clearly shown, and has been suggested by others. The concurrent increase in VEGF suggests an interplay between the two known functions of this protein (increasing vascular permeability and promoting angiogensis), and further studies could be focused on examining that interplay. The finding of ventriculomegaly is in parallel with what is seen in infants who survive hypoxia, and further study of this phenomenon could help elucidate the pathogenesis of ventriculomegaly in preterm infants.

REFERENCES

1. Guyer, B., Strobino, D.M., Ventura, S.J., MacDorman, M., Martin, J.A. 1996. Annual survey of vital statistics. *Pediatrics*. 98: 1008-1019.

2. Hack, M., Wright, L.L., Shankaran, S., et al. 1995. Very-low-birth-weight outcomes of the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Network, November 1989 to October 1990. *Am J of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 172: 457-464.

3. Bhushan, V., Paneth, N., Kiely, J.L. 1993. Impact of improved survival of very low birth weight infants on recent secular trends in the prevalence of cerebral palsy. *Pediatrics*. 91: 1094-1100.

4. Northway, W.H., Rosan, R.C., Porter, D.Y. 1967. Pulmonary disease following respirator therapy of hyaline-membrane disease. *NEJM*. 276: 358-368.

5. Oski, F.A. 1990. *Principles and Practice of Pediatrics*. Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott Co. 2150 pp.

6. Luchi, J.M., Bennett, F.C., Jackson, C. 1991. Predictors of neurodevelopmental outcome following bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Am J of Diseases of Childhood*. 145: 813-817.

7. Boyzinski, M.E., Nelson, M.N., Matalon, T.A.S., et al. 1987. Prolonged mechanical ventilation and intracranial hemorrhage: impact on developmental progress through 18 months in infants weighing 1200 grams or less at birth. *Pediatrics*. 79: 670-676.

8. Meisels, S.J., Plunkett, J.W., Roloff, D.W., Pasick, P.L., Stiefel, G. 1986. Growth and development of preterm infants with respiratory distress syndrome and bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatrics*. 77: 345-352.

9. Ferrer, I., Bernet, E., Soriano, R.T., delFonesco, M. 1990. Naturally occurring cell death of newly born neurons and glia in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat. *Neuroscience*. 56: 337-344.

10. Stewart WB., Ment LR., Schwartz M. 1997. Chronic postnatal hypoxia increases the numbers of cortical neurons. *Brain Research*. 760(1-2): 17-21.

11. Ment LR., Stewart WB., Fronc R., Seashore C., Mahooti S., Scaramuzzino D., Madri JA. 1997. Vascular endothelial growth factor mediates reactive angiogenesis in the postnatal developing brain. *Developmental Brain Research*. 100(1): 52-61.

12. Schwartz, M.L., O'Reilly, J.P., Haddad, G.G. 1995. Altered neuronal properties in neocortex following long term exposure to hypoxia. Soc. Neurosci. 21, 1729. (Abstr.)

13. LaManna, J.C., Vendel, L.M., Farrell, R.M. 1992. Brain adaptation to chronic hypobaric hypoxia in rats. *J Applied Physiology*. 72: 2238-2243.

14. Risau, W. 1994. Molecular biology of blood-brain barrier ontogenesis and function. *Acta Neurochirguria*. 60(suppl): 109-112.

15. Crone, C., Oleson, S.P., 1982. Electrical resistance of brain microvascular endothelium. *Brain Research*. 241: 49-55.

16. Muramatsu K., Fukuda A., Togari H., Wada Y., Nishino H. 1997. Vulnerability to cerebral hypoxic-ischemic insult in neonatal but not in adult rats is in parallel with disruption of the blood-brain barrier. *Stroke*. 28(11): 2281-8; discussion 2288-9.

17. Zhang, H.F., Ong, W.Y., Leong, S.K. 1997. Ultrastructural changes in cerebral cortical blood vessels of immature and adult rats after a single episode of neonatal hypoxia. *J Brain Research*. 38: 81-97.

18. Plateel M., Dehouck MP., Torpier G., Cecchelli R., Teissier E. 1995. Hypoxia increases the susceptibility to oxidant stress and the permeability of the blood-brain barrier endothelial cell monolayer. *J Neurochemistry*. 65(5): 2138-45.

19. Sternberger, N.H., Sternberger, L.A. 1987. Blood-brain barrier protein recognized by monoclonal antibody. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 84: 8169-8173.

20. Minchenko, A., Bauert, T., Salceda, S., Caro, J. 1994. Hypoxic stimulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in vitro and in vivo. *Laboratory Investigation*. 71: 374-379.

21. Shweiki, D., Itin, A., Soffer, D., Keshet, E. 1992. Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. *Nature*. 359:843-845.

22. Risau, W. 1997. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. *Nature*. 386: 671-674.

23. Weindel, K., Moringlane, J.R., Marme, D., Weich, H.A. 1994. Detection and quantification of vascular endothelial growth factor /vascular permeability factor in brain tumor tissue and cyst fluid: the key to angiogenesis? *Neurosurgery*. 35: 439-449.

24. Flamme, I., von Reutern, M., Drexler, H.C.A., Syed-Ali, S., Risau, W. 1995. Overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor in the avian embryo induces hypervascularization and increased vascular permeability without alterations of embryonic pattern formation. *Developmental Biology*. 171: 399-414.

25. Connelly, D.T., Vascular permeability factor: a unique regulator of blood vessel function. 1991. *J Cellular Biochemistry*. 47: 219-223.

26. Wells JT., Ment LR. 1995. Prevention of intraventricular hemorrhage in preterm infants. *Early Human Development*. 42(3): 209-33.

27. Ment LR., Stewart WB., Ardito TA., Madri JA. 1995. Germinal matrix microvascular maturation correlates inversely with the risk period for neonatal intraventricular hemorrhage. *Developmental Brain Research*. 84(1): 142-9.

28. Ment LR., Stewart WB., Ardito TA., Huang E., Madri JA. 1992. Indomethacin promotes germinal matrix microvessel maturation in the newborn beagle pup. *Stroke*. 23(8): 1132-7.

29. Allan, W.C., Vohr, B., Makuch, R.W., Katz, K.H., Ment, L.R. 1997. Antecedents of cerebral palsy in a multicenter trial of indomethacin for intraventricular hemorrhage. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*. 151(6): 580-585.

30. Ment, L.R., Vohr, B., Oh, W., Scott, D.T., Allan, W.C., et al. 1996. Neurodevelopmental outcome at 36 months' corrected age of preterm infants in the multicenter indomethacin intraventricular hemorrhage prevention trial. *Pediatrics*. 98(4): 714-718.

31. Dell'Anna, M., Calzolari, S., Molinari, M., Iuvone, R., Calimici, R. 1991. Neonatal anoxia induces transitory hyperactivity, permanent spatial memory deficits, and CA1 cell density reduction in developing rats. *Behavioral Brain Research*. 45: 125-134.

32. Laroia, N., McBride, L., Baggs, R., Guillet, R. 1996. Dextromethorphan ameliorates the effects of neonatal hypoxia on brain morphology and seizure threshold in rats. *Developmental Brain Research*. 100: 29-34.

33. Nyakas, C., Buwalda, B., Luiten, P. 1996. Hypoxia and brain development. *Progress in Neurobiology*. 49: 1-51.

34. Ment, L.R., Schwartz, M., Makuch, R.W., Stewart, W.B. 1998. Association of chronic sublethal hypoxia with ventriculomegaly in the developing rat brain. *Developmental Brain Research*. 111: 197-203.

HARVEY CUSHING / JOHN HAY WHITNEY MEDICAL LIBRARY

MANUSCRIPT THESES

Unpublished theses submitted for the Master's and Doctor's degrees and deposited in the Medical Library are to be used only with due regard to the rights of the authors. Bibliographical references may be noted, but passages must not be copied without permission of the authors, and without proper credit being given in subsequent written or published work.

reashire John à

This thesis by AVI JOHN HAMME has been used by the following persons, whose signatures attest their acceptance of the above restrictions.

NAME AND ADDRESS

DATE



